# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/30/2020 1:49 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99265-7 Appellate Court No. 52908-4-II

#### THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANDREW P. LEITNER,

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF TACOMA and DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondents.

#### PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Ron Meyers WSBA No. 13169 Matthew Johnson WSBA No. 27976 Tim Friedman WSBA No. 37983 Attorneys for Petitioner

> Ron Meyers & Associates, PLLC 8765 Tallon Ln. NE, Suite A Olympia, WA 98516 (360) 459-5600

####

I.	Identity of Petitioner		
II.	Citation to Court of Appeal's Decision		
III.	Issues Presented for Review		
IV.	Statement of the Case		
	A.	Statement of Background Facts	
	В.	The Department of L&I accepted Lt. Leitner's RCW 51.32.185 presumptive-occupational disease claim 4	
	C.	The City appealed the Department's claim-acceptance to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals 5	
	D.	The Board improperly limited the statutory presumption . 5	
	Е.	The Board and Superior Court misapplied the burden of proof under RCW 51.32.185	
	F.	The Dissenting member of the Board was correct 8	
	G.	Leitner appealed to the Superior Court9	
	H.	The Superior Court misapplied the law and failed to apply the proper burden on the employer9	
	I.	Review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(1-4)10	
V.	Argument		
	1.	The Appellate Court's decision conflicts with <i>Spivey, id.</i> , and with published decisions of the Appellate Courts 11	
	2.	This petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court	

	3.	The Appellate Court improperly refused to decide a properly identified and briefed assignment of error 19		
	4.	Attorney fees		
VI. CO	ONCLU	TSION		
APPENDIX A -Leitner v. City of Tacoma, 14 Wn. App. 2d 1018, filed August 18, 2020				
APPENDIX B - Appellant's Opening Brief				
APPENDIX C - Department's Motion to Publish				
APPENDIX D - City of Tacoma's Motion to Publish				
APPEN	NDIX E	- Appellant's Reply Brief		

#### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### Cases Clark Cty. v. McManus 188 Wn. App. 228, 354 P.3d 868 (2015), rev'd in part, 185 Wn.2d 466, Gaines v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. Gorre v. City of Tacoma 180 Wn. App. 729, 324 P.3d 716 (2014), as amended on reconsideration in part (July 8, 2014), as amended (July 15, 2014), rev'd, 184 Wn.2d 30, 357 In re Bush In re Lain Kaplan v. Nw. Mut. Life Ins. Co. Raleigh v. Illinois Dep't of Revenue 530 U.S. 15, 20–21, 120 S. Ct. 1951,147 L. Ed. 2d 13 (2000) . . . . . . . . 13 Spivey v. City of Bellevue 187 Wn.2d 716, 389 P.3d 504 (2017) ...... 6, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 20 Spratt v. Toft State v. Hunley Stratton v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.

## 

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is firefighter Andrew Leitner.

#### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Division II Court of Appeals opinion, *Leitner v. City of Tacoma*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 1018, filed August 18, 2020. *Appendix A* 

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should the Supreme Court accept review because the Appellate Court's decision conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court and published decisions of the Appellate Court? Yes.
- 2. Should the Supreme Court accept review because this Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court? Yes.
- 3. Should the Supreme Court accept review because the Appellate Court's decision affirms the deprivation of a liberty interest to firefighter Leitner? Yes.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

#### A. Statement of background Facts

Andrew Leitner ("Leitner") was a firefighter for the City of Tacoma for thirty-one years. *CP 578:24 - 579:1*. He was exposed to diesel fumes in his job for most of his career. *CP 541:1-3; 541:5-12; 560:7-18; 563:5-11; 563:24 - 564:1; 564:12-16; 565:12-16; 565:17-22; 623: 4-7; 626:17-23;633:13-20*. Leitner went on about 800 calls a year, generally, over the course of his 31 years as a firefighter. *CP 622:20-25*. He responded to

approximately five thousand fire suppression calls as a firefighter where there was smoke, fumes and toxic substances in either a residential or a commercial fire. *CP* 626:5-627:22.

Frequently, Leitner would do patient-transfers (i.e. lifting) involving 300 to 400 pound patients. *CP 589:14-590:4* 

During his December 31, 2014 shift, Leitner responded to multiple medical calls and he performed a boat check *CP 582:22-23; 583:12-20*. The boat check involved exciting the alternator, where diesel fumes permeate the area that Leitner was in. *CP 583:18 - 584:5-8*.

Also on this shift, Leitner was aboard the fireboat and responded to a "disabled boat" call where a man had deployed his anchor into the water, using 200 or 300 feet of line. *CP 528:8-12*. Leitner began pulling the forty-to-fifty pound anchor up, hand-over-hand. *CP 530:1-2; 11*. After three to four minutes of this, Leitner experienced extreme sweatiness and nausea. The pain between his shoulders worsened and started to radiate down his left arm, which was unusual to him. *CP 530:14-20*. He paused, and then continued to pull the anchor up for another four to five minutes. As he continued to pull, the pain started to increase again in his left arm. He had an aching sensation in his chest. He still felt short of breath, and he started to feel dizzy. He secured the anchor. He was out of breath. He felt nauseous. He had some

chest pain. He did not feel very well. CP 530:24 - 531:12; 596:14 - 597:1.

During the remainder of that shift, Leitner felt dizzy, tired, had a sharp pain between his shoulders, still had chest pain and his left arm was throbbing. *CP* 598:12-19. At 2:00 am the morning of January 1, 2015, Leitner awoke drenched in sweat with the pain "really hard" between his shoulders and going down his left arm. *CP* 533:5-7. He felt that there was something wrong. *CP* 599:10-11. After he went home after this shift, he felt nauseous off-and-on. He felt weak and disoriented. *CP* 600:9-14. On January 2, 2015, he was still not feeling well. *CP* 600:1-5.

On February 25, 2015, Leitner started a 24 hour shift, beginning at 7:00 am. On this shift, Leitner responded to several calls. *CP 600:18-601:8*. One call involved Leitner helping lift a very heavy man who had fallen. *CP 11-19*. Leitner felt dizzy, light-headed and the pain between his shoulders increased. *CP 601:25 - 602:1*. Leitner felt exceptionally worse than he had felt since December 31, 2014. He testified, "it was like a crescendo, an increasing, and that shift I notably told my crew again as I said when I started that, I don't feel good, my left arm woke me up again last night, which I told them that was common, every night around 2:00 my left arm would wake me up and it would hurt." *CP 605:18 - 606:4*.

Also on this shift, Leitner was dizzy at times, sometimes unsteady and

was extraordinarily tired. *CP 606:5-8*. He also was awoken with extreme left arm pain at 2:00 a.m. *id*. After getting home on January 26, 2015, he had no energy, felt off, did not feel well, felt nauseous off and on, his upper back pain was increasing and "it was different." *CP 607:4-15*.

On February 27, 2015, Leitner felt worse. He was extremely tired, nauseous, confused and dizzy. *CP 607:16-23*. He got up from the couch and felt like he was going to pass out. *CP 607:24-608:1*. Leitner woke up at approximately 6:00 am on February 28, 2015 with extreme pain. He sat up in bed and his left arm was throbbing, aching, and he felt something in his chest. *CP608: 8-13*. After getting out of bed, he walked around his house in a confused state and he again was dizzy and nauseous. *CP 608:20-24*. He broke out in a cold sweat and the pain that was between his shoulders went directly into his chest. *CP 609:1-4*. He called 911 and was taken to the hospital and into surgery. *CP 611:9; 612:1-2; 613:14*.

## B. The Department of L&I accepted Leitner's RCW 51.32.185 presumptive-occupational disease claim.

Leitner submitted the Supervisor's Reports of Incident or Injury and SIF-2 regarding December 31, 2014 and February 28, 2015. *CP 236-237*. He submitted his SIF-2 Addendum detailing a history of December 31, 2014 through February 28, 2015, culminating in his trip to the hospital on February 28, 2015. *CP 251-253*. The Department of Labor and Industries

("Department") accepted Leitner's presumptive-disease heart claim. CP 187

## C. The City appealed the Department's claim-acceptance to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals.

Leitner's employer, City of Tacoma ("City"), appealed the claim-acceptance order. *CP 181-184*. The Industrial Appeals Judge affirmed claim-acceptance. *CP 169-179*. The City appealed. *CP 140-164*.

#### D. The Board improperly limited the statutory presumption.

RCW 51.32.185 creates a presumption for eligible firefighters (such as Leitner) that, "any heart problems, experienced within seventy-two hours of exposure to smoke, fumes, or toxic substances, or experienced within twenty-four hours of strenuous physical exertion due to firefighting activities" are occupational diseases under RCW 51.08.140. [Bold added].

The Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals ("Board") improperly limited the "any heart problems" presumption to an acute myocardial infarction of February 28, 2015 and improperly applied the 72 hour factor to only "diesel fumes" (not "smoke, fumes or toxic substances"). *CP 113-122*.

Indeed, Leitner had a myocardial infarction, which is a heart problem. But even the City's expert admitted that Leitner had coronary artery disease, which his a heart problem, and angina pectoris, which is also a heart problem. *CP 779, 782.* Angina pectoris is a heart problem. *CP 909.* The Board even stated, "Both doctors thought Mr. Leitner may have experienced angina on

various occasions between December 31, 2014, and his heart attack on February 28, 2015, due to the narrowing of his arteries combined with physical exertion." *CP 117*.

The City's expert Dr. Thompson admitted that it appears that the symptoms of angina pectoris occurred while Leitner was engaged in activities on the job. *CP* 779. Leitner had multiple "heart problems" as evidenced by the medical testimony. *e.g. CP* 779, 782.

The Board reached out and picked one heart problem (2/28/15 myocardial infarction) and put only that in its findings of fact. *CP 61*.

By limiting its findings and conclusions only to "myocardial infarction" - and ignoring the other presumptive heart problems – the Board:

(1) Deprived Leitner of the full statutory presumption; and (2) Materially changed Leitner's case on appeal because in Leitner's trial, the jury was lead to believe that their decision was confined only to deciding the issues as it pertains to Leitner's "myocardial infarction" and when considering exposures, only exposures to diesel fumes.

## E. The Board and Superior Court misapplied the burden of proof under RCW 51.32.185.

The Board also failed to apply the burden of proof on the City as required by RCW 51.32.185 and as construed by this Court in *Spivey v. City* of *Bellevue*, 187 Wn.2d 716, 389 P.3d 504 (2017) and the Appellate Court in

Gorre v. City of Tacoma, 180 Wn. App. 729, 324 P.3d 716 (2014), as amended on reconsideration in part (July 8, 2014), as amended (July 15, 2014), rev'd, 184 Wn.2d 30, 357 P.3d 625 (2015).

Dr. Thompson testified that Leitner had a buildup of cholesterol in his arteries for years and years prior to the February 28, 2015 "event". *CP* 751. When asked what caused that buildup, he testified that the cholesterol "in our blood seeps into our arteries and accumulates." *CP* 751. When asked what caused that to happen, Dr. Thompson testified not about Leitner specifically, but in general terms, "Age, smoking, high blood pressure, diabetes and sometimes you never know why one person gets it and another doesn't." *CP* 751.

**Specifically as to Leitner,** Dr. Thompson's testimony established that there was: **no history** of cigarette smoking, **no history** of high blood pressure, **no history** of diabetes, and **no history** of high cholesterol. *CP* 767:11-21.

Dr. Chen testified that Leitner's coronary artery (in which the stent was placed on February 28, 2015) was one hundred percent blocked and that "a complete blockage is usually an acute event." *CP 909*. Dr. Thompson admitted: "The underlying cause [of angina pectoris] was buildup of cholesterol in his arteries. **The exertion just brought out symptoms of that**,

[...]" [bold added]. *CP 783*. Dr. Thompson also admitted that prior to the day Leitner pulled up the anchor (12/31/14) Leitner had shown **no symptoms** or no awareness of any kind of his heart disease or heart problems. *CP 778*.

The City's evidence failed as a matter of law to meet its burden under RCW 51.32.185. The Board improperly applied the presumption, because it did not follow the rules set forth in *Spivey*, *id.*, *and Gorre*, *id*.

#### F. The Dissenting member of the Board was correct.

The dissenting member of the Board noted that the Board majority misapplied the presumption:

Because the Board majority has misapplied RCW 51.32.185 to the facts of this appeal, I respectfully dissent. *CP 62*.

While on a medical aid call on February 25, 2015, Mr. Leitner began experiencing increased upper back pain, dizziness, and light-headedness immediately after assisting two other firefighters in getting a heavy man off of the floor. Along with other symptoms, those symptoms continued off and on from then until he called 911 less than three days later. As the undisputed medical testimony explained, a heart attack can be the result of strenuous physical exertion, and it can be ongoing. [. . .] He established that he suffered his attack within 24 hours of strenuous physical exertion within the meaning of RCW 51.32.185. *CP 62* 

Additionally, while on the job on February 25, 2015, Mr. Leitner was exposed to diesel exhaust fumes emanating from a fire engine and two fire boats. His heart attack began that very day. Consequently, he suffered his heart attack within 72 hours of his exposure to fumes within the meaning of RCW 51.32.185. *CP 63*.

The City's evidence in rebuttal to the statutory presumption is thin to non-existent. Regarding Mr. Leitner's diesel fume exposure, the City's proffered doctor offered that it is his "impression" that open-air exposure to diesel fumes is "not [a] known . . . cause" of heart attacks. He referenced no studies in support of his opinion. Regarding Mr. Leitner's physical exertion as a presumptive cause of his heart attack, the City simply and incorrectly contends that his heart attach did not begin within 24 hours of the exertion. Additionally, the City offered no medical evidence identifying any likely alternative cause of Mr. Leitner's heart attack if the cause was not diesel fumes or strenuous exertion. *CP 63*.

#### G. Leitner appealed to the Superior Court.

Leitner appealed to the Superior Court. *CP 1–4*. At the jury trial, the Department aligned with Leitner in its support of the proper application of the law. *VRP 838:6-8; 955:3-17; 961:5-9*. The Superior Court found that the Board used the wrong standard in applying the presumptive disease statute and that the Board's analysis was incorrect and flawed. *See VRP 71:15-19; 369:17; 369:20-25; 459:13-14*.

## H. The Superior Court misapplied the law and failed to apply the proper burden on the employer.

The Superior Court committed reversible error by limiting the statutory presumption to "myocardial infarction." The presumption applies to "any heart problems" not just "myocardial infarction". *RCW* 51.32.185.

Despite the Supreme Court's holdings in *Spivey*, *id.*, and the Appellate Court's rules in *Gorre*, *id.*—both of which show that in the present

case the Board misapplied the presumptive disease statute – the Superior Court failed to correct the Board's prejudicially flawed findings of fact and conclusions of law and failed to apply the proper burden on the City. Leitner was deprived of the presumption as to "any heart problems" and was deprived of the burden-shifting mechanism of RCW 51.32.185.

The jury was led to believe that when the instructions and special verdict form used the term "heart problem," the problem being referred to was the singular heart problem found by the Board and repeated in Jury Instruction No. 7, that is, the February 28, 2015 "myocardial infarction." *See Instruction No. 7 at CP 1919-1920*. This is further evidenced by the City's counsel's representation to the jury in closing argument that, "Every one of those findings of fact [. . .] it's talking about myocardial infarction, heart attack. [. . .] that's what this is about. *VRP 968:1-10*.

The Superior Court could have, and **should have**, corrected this error.

The Superior Court failed to modify the Board's findings and decisions, which then compounded the Board's error at the Superior Court trial.

#### I. Review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(1-4).

Leitner appealed to the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeal's decision conflicts with published opinions in the Appellate Courts as well as this Court's opinion in *Spivey*, *id*. This Petition also involves an issue of

substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. Guidance to the courts on this issue is needed – and the Department and City agree. Leitner was also denied a liberty interest.

#### V ARGUMENT

1. The Appellate Court's decision conflicts with *Spivey, id.*, and with published decisions of the Appellate Courts.

The Appellate Court in *Gorre*, *id.*, gave specific rules about what evidence does **not** rebut the presumption, and those rules remain good law.

Gorre Rule No. 1: Evidence that there is no known association between the disease and firefighting – fails to rebut the presumption that the disease is occupational. *See Gorre*, id., at 758.

Gorre Rule No. 2: Evidence that the cause of the disease cannot be identified by a preponderance of the evidence fails to rebut the presumption that the disease is occupational. *id*.

The Spivey Rule: The Supreme Court in Spivey, mandates that the standard for rebutting the presumption requires that the employer provide evidence from which a reasonable trier of fact could conclude that the firefighter's disease was, more probably than not, caused by nonoccupational factors. Spivey, id., at 735.

Here, the City's medical expert testimony fits directly within what the Appellate Court in *Gorre, id,* and the Supreme Court in *Spivey, id.*, have made clear does **not** rebut the presumption. See Thompson Dep at CP 737:23-24; 748:16-25; 750:16-751:7; 753:24-754:6; 755:16-756:3; 757:4-12; 758:8-17; 767:11-21.

The Board and Superior Court fail to apply the correct burden of proof when, despite testimony that does not meet the *Spivey* and *Gorre* rules, they find and/or affirm that the presumption was rebutted.

The Appellate Court claims that, "Leitner provides one statement in his brief that the superior court failed to apply the correct burden of proof on the City. Leitner does not provide any argument, citation to the record, or legal authority in support of his assertion." *Opinion, at 13*. Respectfully, that is incorrect. *See pgs 2,3,12,13,28, and 30 of Appellant's Opening Brief-App B hereto*. Based on the Appellate Court's incorrect assertion, it declined to address Leitner's assignment of error (that the Superior Court failed to apply the correct burden of proof on the City). *Opinion, at 13*. This was error.

Leitner **did** provide argument, citation to the record, and legal authority in support of his assertion. He even identified this as an assignment of error on appeal. See p. 5 of App B.

The Appellate Court also refused to review Leitner's assignment of error No. 4 that the Superior Court erred by denying Leitner's motion for summary judgment. The Appellate Court's basis was that the order was not

appealed before the case went to trial and verdict. *Opinion at 16*. The Appellate Court's decision conflicts with *Kaplan v. Nw. Mut. Life Ins. Co.*, 115 Wn. App. 791, 65 P.3d 16 (2003). Where the decision on summary judgment turned solely on a substantive issue of law, a denial of summary judgment can be appealed following a trial on the merits. *Kaplan*, id., at 804.

It was the trial court's misapplication of the burden of proof in RCW 51.32.185, as interpreted by *Gorre, id.*, and *Spivey, id.*, that gave rise to the court's denial of Leitner's motion for summary judgment. *CP 1030-1048*.

"Given its importance to the outcome of cases, we have long held the burden of proof to be a "substantive" aspect of a claim." *Raleigh v. Illinois Dep't of Revenue*, 530 U.S. 15, 20–21, 120 S. Ct. 1951,147 L. Ed. 2d 13 (2000). *See also Spratt v. Toft*, 180 Wn. App. 620, 636, 324 P.3d 707 (2014).

The Appellate Court's decision also conflicts with *Clark Cty. v. McManus*, 188 Wn. App. 228, 354 P.3d 868 (2015), rev'd in part, 185 Wn.2d 466, 372 P.3d 764 (2016). In *Clark Cty*, the worker contended that the trial court's refusal to revise the Board's finding so that it reflected only injury to his lumbar spine was error, and the Court of Appeals agreed. *id., at 242*. The Court of Appeals in *Clark Cty., id.*, stated: "Thus, the issue before the jury was whether the Board's determination that a causal link existed between McManus' claimed industrial injury and the conditions of his work for the

County. Because the Board's finding of fact 5 as represented to the jury referenced the wrong injury, it effectively precluded McManus from establishing this link." *id.*, at 244.

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