FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/28/2021 4:20 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 99265-7

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANDREW P. LEITNER,

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF TACOMA and WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondents.

# DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

STEVE VINYARD, WSBA #29737 Assistant Attorney General Office ID No. 91022 Labor and Industries Division 7141 Cleanwater Drive SW P.O. Box 40121 Olympia, WA 98504-0121 360-586-7715

## **

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

Central to Leitner's petition is his claim that RCW 51.52.115, which requires the Board's "exact" findings to be read to the jury, should not be followed and that the superior court erred in not modifying the findings before they were read to the jury. But he presents no conflict with precedent or issue of substantial public interest meriting review. The superior court's instructions allowed him to argue that all of his heart problems—not just the myocardial infarction—were related to his firefighting work, and that it was the City's burden to rebut the statutory presumption to that effect. Pet. 14-18. And the court properly instructed the jury regarding the Board's findings, rather than changing any reference to "myocardial infarction" to "all heart problems," because RCW 51.52.115 requires courts to inform the jury of the Board's findings of fact and the case law recognizes only minor exceptions to that rule that are not relevant here.

Likewise, Leitner's inchoate arguments about appellate review of a summary judgment denial, burden of proof, and deprivation of a liberty interest show no reason for review.

A. Review Is Not Warranted Because the Trial Court's
Instructions Allowed Leitner To Argue His Theory of the Case,
and the Court Properly Declined To Substantially Rewrite the
Board's Findings

Leitner's contentions regarding the trial court's jury instructions do not merit review by this Court. The instructions allowed Leitner to argue his theory of the case, and Leitner has shown no conflict with the precedent of this Court or the Court of Appeals. The trial court's Instruction Nos. 8-10, 13, and the verdict form properly informed the jury that all of Leitner's alleged heart problems—not just the myocardial infarction treated on February 28, 2015—were subject to the presumption in RCW 51.32.185 that they constituted an occupational disease.

CP 1920-23, 1926, 1935.

Leitner argues that by reading the Board's findings to the jury, which referenced the myocardial infarction but not his other alleged heart problems, the trial court effectively limited him to arguing only that his myocardial infarction was presumptively an occupational disease.

Pet. 14-18. But Leitner admits that other jury instructions referenced "heart problems" repeatedly, allowing the jury to decide whether the Board's reference to the myocardial infarction only was error (and allowing him to argue that it was). Pet. 16-17. And the instructions as a whole unambiguously provided that the statutory presumption of

occupational disease applied to all of Leitner's heart problems, not just his myocardial infarction, allowing Leitner to make the argument that he now claims he could not make. Pet. 14-18; CP 1920-23, 1926, 1935.<sup>3</sup> As this Court observed in *Spivey v. City of Bellevue*, 187 Wn.2d 716, 738, 389 P.3d 504 (2017), the jury is presumed to follow the court's instructions absent evidence to the contrary, and Leitner offers no evidence that the jury disregarded the instructions here, including those telling the jury to consider all of Leitner's heart problems when deciding the case. Pet. 14-18.

Taken as a whole, the instructions allowed Leitner to argue that the jury should apply the presumption to all of his heart problems, not just the myocardial infarction. *See* CP 1921-23, 1926, 1935. The instructions also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Instruction No. 8 advised the jury that the Board determined that "the employer rebutted the presumption by a preponderance of the evidence" that "Andrew Leitner's *heart problems* were an occupational disease." CP 1920 (emphasis added). Instruction No. 9 told the jury that it had to decide "[w]hether the City of Tacoma rebutted, by a preponderance of the evidence, the statutory presumption that Mr. Leitner's *heart problems* were an occupational disease." CP 1922 (emphasis added). Instruction No. 10 advised the jury that, before the Board, the burden was on the City to rebut the presumption that "claimant's *heart problem(s)* arose naturally out of his conditions of employment as a firefighter" and "his employment is a proximate cause of his heart problem(s)." CP 1923 (emphasis added).

Instruction No. 13 similarly made clear that the presumption applied to all heart problems and not just the myocardial infarction, advising the jury, "You are to presume that if a firefighter experienced *any heart problems* within seventy-two hours of exposure to smoke, fumes, or toxic substances, or within twenty-four hours of strenuous physical exertion due to firefighting, then those activities were a cause of those heart problems." CP 1926 (emphasis added). These instructions also rebut Leitner's claim (at Pet. 12-14 and discussed further below) that the court misapplied the burden of proof: the instructions properly explained that the City had the burden of proof to rebut the presumption, and did so in terms consistent with *Spivey*. CP 1926; *Spivey*, 187 Wn.2d at 735, 738-39.

made clear that the City had the burden of rebutting the presumption for all of those heart problems. CP 1926 ("You are to presume that if a firefighter experienced *any heart problems* within seventy-two hours of exposure to smoke, fumes, or toxic substances, or within twenty-four hours of strenuous physical exertion due to firefighting, then those activities were a cause of those heart problems." (emphasis added)); *see also* CP 1921-23, 1935. The jury could not have plausibly believed that the myocardial infarction was the only condition before them, given the language of Instruction Nos. 8, 9, 10, and 13 and the verdict form. *See* CP 1921-23, 1926, 1935.

Leitner also fails to show that the decision below conflicts with Clark Cty v. McManus, 188 Wn. App. 228, 242-45 (2015), rev'd on other grounds 185 Wn.2d 466 (2016), and review is therefore not merited under RAP 13.4(b)(2). McManus permits a court to correct an "obvious scrivener's error" in a Board finding, not to make substantive changes to the Board's findings to conform to a party's view of the case. Compare Pet. 14-18 with McManus, 188 Wn. App. at 242-45. In McManus, a worker alleged an occupational disease involving his low back.

McManus, 188 Wn. App. at 231. The Board concluded that the low-back claim should be allowed, but one of its findings erroneously referenced the cervical spine even though the worker never alleged a cervical spine issue.

*Id.* at 235, 242. *McManus* concluded that the reference to the cervical spine was an "obvious scrivener's error" and the trial court should have corrected the mistake. *Id.* at 244-45.

But here, the Board did not make a scrivener's error when it referenced the myocardial infarction. Leitner sustained a myocardial infarction and received medical treatment for it, which likely saved his life. CP 496, 861-62. And while Leitner also alleged other heart problems, all of the parties focused primarily on the myocardial infarction when presenting evidence to the Board. Indeed, the Department's order referred solely to the medical problem treated on February 28, 2015: namely, the myocardial infarction. CP 284. Unlike *McManus*, where the Board referenced a cervical spine condition accidentally, here the Board did not reference Leitner's myocardial infarction accidentally or due to a scrivener's error. *McManus* provides no support for Leitner's claim that the trial court should have rewritten the Board's findings to conform to his theory of the case.

Further, there is no statutory support for Leitner's argument that a trial court should modify the Board's findings before informing the jury if the court concludes that the findings were not comprehensive enough with regard to the issues before the Board. *Compare* RCW 51.52.115 *with* Pet. 14-18. Leitner relies on language in RCW 51.52.115 that "[i]f the court

shall determine that the board has acted within its power and has correctly construed the law and found the facts, the decision of the board shall be confirmed; otherwise, it shall be reversed or modified." Pet. 17. Leitner suggests that this statutory language means that if the court thinks the Board made the wrong findings, the court can rewrite them to conform to what it thinks the Board should have found. Pet. 17.

But the language in RCW 51.52.115 cited by Leitner refers to the court's authority to reverse the Board's decision on the merits if the court concludes that the Board's decision was wrong, not the manner in which the court should advise the jury of the Board's findings via jury instructions. With regard to advising a jury of the Board's findings, the statute—far from authorizing the court to rewrite the findings—instead directs the court to advise the jury "of the exact findings of the board on each material issue before the court." RCW 51.52.115 (emphasis added).

Leitner shows no reason to accept review because the decision below does not conflict with any case law and this case does not present an issue of substantial public interest. To the contrary, the jury instructions correctly conveyed the law and allowed Leitner a full and fair opportunity to argue his case.

# B. Leitner's Remaining Arguments Also Present No Reason for Review

Leitner's remaining arguments about appellate review of a summary judgment denial, burden of proof, and deprivation of a liberty interest lack merit and present no basis for review.

First, because the parties presented disputed facts about the cause of Leitner's heart problems, the Court of Appeals properly did not review the trial court's denial of summary judgment. The *Kaplan* case Leitner claims conflicts with the decision below actually supports the decision. *Compare* Pet. 12-13 *with Kaplan v. Northwest Mutual Life Ins. Co.*, 115 Wn. App. 791, 799-800, 65 P.3d 16 (2003). Appellate courts do not review a trial court's denial of summary judgment after a case has been submitted to a jury, when the denial was based on the trial court's determination that a material fact was in dispute. *Johnson v. Rothstein*, 52 Wn. App. 303, 304-05, 759 P.2d 471 (1988).

Here, the superior court denied Leitner's summary judgment motion because the court determined that a material fact was in dispute: namely, whether the City showed by a preponderance of the evidence that Leitner's heart problems were not work related. CP 1157-58; RP 8/25/2017 at 11. Because the trial court denied summary judgment on that

basis, the Court of Appeals properly did not review the denial. *See Rothstein*, 52 Wn. App. at 304-05; *Kaplan*, 115 Wn. App. at 799-800.

The *Kaplan* case relied on by Leitner supports the Court of Appeals decision rather than conflicting with it. Pet. 12-13. *Kaplan* explains that orders denying summary judgment are not reviewable on appeal when summary judgment was denied based on the trial court's determination that "material facts are in dispute," and such orders may be reviewed on appeal only when "the parties dispute no issues of fact" and "the decision on summary judgment turned solely on a substantive issue of law." *Kaplan*, 115 Wn. App. at 799-800. Because the trial court determined that material facts were in dispute, its ruling was properly not subject to review.

Second, the Court of Appeals properly addressed every issue that Leitner raised in his appellate briefing. Leitner argues that the Court improperly declined to consider his argument that the trial court and Board misapplied the burden of proof. Pet. 11-12.<sup>4</sup> But Leitner's Court of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Leitner also argues that the Court of Appeals should have addressed his challenge to the superior court's evidentiary rulings concerning the testimony of an industrial hygienist. Pet. 19-20. The Court declined to review this claim because Leitner "fail[ed] to provide any reasoned argument supported by legal authority on why the superior court abused its discretion." *Leitner*, 476 P.3d at 629 n.7. Though he disagrees with the Court's interpretation of his briefing, Leitner does not argue that this aspect of the decision conflicts with any case law, nor does he explain how it raises an issue of substantial public interest. *See* Pet. 19-20. And it is implausible that it would raise an issue of substantial public interest given its highly fact-specific nature. It therefore does not merit review.

Appeals brief did not clearly delineate which arguments corresponded to which of his various assignments of error. Furthermore, all of the briefing that Leitner points to relates either to his argument that the superior court should have granted him summary judgment—which the Court of Appeals properly declined to address because such decisions are generally unreviewable on appeal—or his argument that the jury instructions should have reworded the Board's findings to reference all heart problems, which the Court of Appeals addressed and properly rejected. *Leitner*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 12; *see* Pet. 11-12 (citing CP 2, 3, 12, 13, 28, 30).

In any event, Leitner's perfunctory arguments fail to show that the Court of Appeals' analysis with regard to the burden of proof conflicts with either *Spivey* or *Gorre*. Pet. 11-12; *Leitner*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 4; *Spivey*, 187 Wn.2d at 735, 738-39; *Gorre v. City of Tacoma*, 180 Wn. App. 729, 324 P.3d 716 (2014), *rev'd*, 184 Wn.2d 30 (2015). As Leitner notes (Pet. 11-12), under *Spivey*, to rebut the presumption of occupational disease, an employer must present evidence supporting the inference that it is more probable than not that the disease was caused by nonoccupational rather than occupational factors—though it does not have to prove the specific cause of the disease. *Spivey*, 187 Wn. 2d at 735. Under *Gorre*, an employer cannot meet this standard merely by showing that (1) there is "no known association" between firefighting and the

disease, or (2) the cause of the disease cannot be identified by a preponderance of the evidence. Pet.11-12 (citing *Gorre*, 180 Wn. App. at 758).

But Leitner does not demonstrate a conflict, because the Court of Appeals' decision is fully consistent with both cases. *Compare* Pet. 11-12 *with Leitner*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 7. The decision below correctly articulated and applied the burden of proof as Spivey explains it should be applied. *Id.* at 7 (citing *Spivey*, 178 Wn.2d at 735, 739). It affirmed the superior court because the jury instructions properly set forth this burden of proof and conveyed that the presumption applied to all of Leitner's alleged heart problems, not just the myocardial infarction. *See id.* There is no conflict between *Spivey* and *Gorre*'s analysis and the opinion below with regard to burden of proof or any other legal issue.

Further, contrary to Leitner's arguments, the jury could reasonably rely on medical evidence in the record to conclude that the City rebutted the presumption, and nothing in *Gorre* or *Spivey* suggests otherwise.

Record evidence supported the inference that Leitner's disease was more probably caused by nonoccupational factors, including age, obesity, and family history, than by his occupational exposure as a firefighter.

Pet 11-12; CP 733-34, 737-40, 755, 861-62, 873, 875. In other words, in rebutting the presumption, the City did not rely on a claim that there is "no

known association" between firefighting and the disease, or that the disease had an unknown cause. *Cf. Gorre*, 184 Wn. App. at 758.

Third, Leitner baselessly argues that he was deprived of "his liberty interest in the proper placement of the burden of proof." Pet. 18-19. But Leitner waived this argument by not raising it below, and he makes no attempt to show that the narrow exception to waiver for arguments based on manifest constitutional errors should apply. Pet 18-19; see RAP 2.5(a); Buecking v. Buecking, 179 Wn.2d 438, 454-55, 316 P.3d 999 (2013). Even assuming for the sake of argument that Leitner has a protected interest in workers' compensation benefits—despite his failure to cite any authority for that proposition—his argument lacks merit because it rests on the false premise that the superior court restricted the presumption in RCW 51.32.185 to his myocardial infarction rather than applying it to all of his heart problems. But the superior court issued multiple instructions informing the jury that the presumption applied to all of Leitner's heart problems, not just the myocardial infarction, and it is implausible to assume that the jury disregarded all of those instructions.

### V. CONCLUSION

Leitner establishes no conflict with case law and no issue of substantial public interest meriting this Court's review. The petition should be denied.